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+ NOTE.

The system of orthography followed in the conversion
of native names and words in the work, is that of Sir W,
Jones.

It is as follows :—

a short as in America, or as u in but,
i short as in fit, fin,

u short as in full, put.

4 long as in war, water.

o long as in pole, no.

4 long as in rule.

au as ou in sound.

e as in obey.

i long as in police, machine.

ai as the German ai in Kaiser.
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CHAPTER I

In the year 1854 the Amir of Kébul, Dost
Muhammad Khén, appointed his grandson, Fatah
Muhammad Khén, to be Warden of Kal4t-i-
ghilzaf, This province had been, for many years,
a feudal dependency of the Sardars of Kandahér—
the Amir’s half brothers. The reason given by
the Amir for the occupation of Kaldt-i-ghilzai was
the econtmued neglect of the Government of
Kandahér to secure the comfort of travellers
on the high road from Kébul to Kandahér, and
to protect them from the assaults of the bighway
robbers who infested the country round about.

The road from Kébul to Kandahdr passes
through Kalat-i-ghilzai.

When Kohandil Khén and his brothers were
driven from Kandahdr, more than 20 years
before this time, they took refuge in Persia.
On the final expulsion of the Saddozais, in
1842, they returned, and from that time friendly
relations seem to have existed between them
and the court of Persia. When the Amir of
Kébul took possession of Kalat-i-ghilzai, the
Sardirs lost no time in asking the aid of
the Shah against their powerful brother. In the
month of August 1854, an envoy from Persia,
by name Abdullsh Khén, arrived at Kébul,

A, D. 1854.

Commissioner of Pe-
shiwar’s No. C, Sep-
tember 21, 1854.

Letter from Syad Hi-
sém-ud-din.

Commissioner of Pe-
shédwar’s No. 1113, No-
vember 6, 1854.

Letter from Amir to
Shah of Persia.

Letter from Anir to
the Shah above quoted.



A. D. 1854.
Tietter from Abdul
Ghy#s Khén, nephew
of the Amir; enclosed
in Commissioner of Pe-
shédwar’s No. 1113, No-
vember 6, 1854,

Translation of the
Shah’s letter, enclosed
in above.

Commussioner of Pe-
shiwar’s No. D, Sep-
tember 232, 1854 ;
with enclosed letter
from Nassir Khin of
Kabul, to Fauydar
Khén Alizai.

Kébul news letter,
dated 19th September
1854.

Original letter from
the Amir to the Shah,

2

bearing a letter from the Shah to the Amir.
The Amir was told in very plain terms, that his
quarrel with his brothers of Kandahir was
highly displeasing to the King of Persia. “ We
¢ have always considered it due to our imperial
“ dignity,” wrote the King, ¢ that whenever any
“one of the chiefs of Afghdnistin should op-
“press and disturb another, our assistance
* should be given to the weaker party. ¥ * * %
“ We do not for a moment entertain the idea
¢ that, in the face of recent promises of friend-
“ ship, any thing contrary to them should
“ emanzte from your Highness. ¥ * ¥ ¥ But
“if any of your sons should have raised any
“ disturbamnce on that frontier, you should forth-
“ with peremptorily forbid such proceedings,
“ % % ¥ % and your Highness should, in con-
 formity with treaties, keep in view a friendly
“ policy towards the Kandahdr Sardars, ¥ * ¥
¢ consider yourself responsible for doing so.”
The avowed object of the Persian envoy was
to demand the restoration of Kalat-i-ghilzaif to
Kandahér, but it was generally believed at the
time that Abdulldh Khén was charged with a
private message or letter to the Amir, in which
it was proposed that Persia, Kébul, Kandahir,
and Herdt should form an alliance, and make
common cause against their mutual enemies.
This offer seems to have been at once rejected
by the Amir and his son, Sard4r Ghulam Haidar
Khaén, the heir apparent. The envoy was treated
with honour during his stay at Kabul, but was
dismissed with a flat refusal. The reply of the
Amir to the Shah’s letter was delivered to the
envoy at Kalit-i-ghilzai on his return, vid Kan-
dahér, to Persia. The Amir wrote in a very
respectful tone ; he recapitulated the circum-
stances of his Dbrothers’ connection with the
Persian court ; made light of their present
grievances ; explained that his anxiety for the
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security of travellers compelled him to hold
Kalat-i-ghilzai, and concluded by asking for the
continuance of the Shah’s favor.

Major Edwardes, the Commissioner of Pesha-
wur, in forwarding copies of these letters to the
Chief Commissioner of the Punjab, remarked,—
‘ the tone of the Shah’s letter is that of a para-
“ mount toadependent power, and must Lave been
“ deeply felt by Dost Muhammad, as an arrogant
“ agsumption ; yet his reply represses all resent-
“ ment and even sarcasm, and puts his own
“ pon-compliance in a light most conciliatory
 and humble. It reads as if the Amir thought
“ it was unnecessary to obey, but unwise to defy
¢ Persia.”

The envoy, Abdullsh Khén, on his way to and
from Kdbul, passed through Kandahér. He is
said to have brought with him 1,000 muskets
and a quantity of ammunition for the use of the
Kandahdr forces. Some Persian diill instructors
were also sent to Kandahdr, and it was even
rumoured that money had been promised for the
pay of a new regiment ; that the Sardirs had
declared themselves vassals of Persia, and had
ordered the coinage to be struck in the name
of the Shah. These rumours, though not without
foundation, were not altogether true. The Shah
appears to have promised to assist the Sarddrs
to recover Kalat-i-ghilzal, on condition of their
entering into an alliance with him, and acknow-
ledging him, in some degree, as their suzerain.
‘We do not, however, find that Kohandil Khén
and his Lrothers made much show of their
allegiance after the failure of the Persian mis-
sion to K4bul, and it is quite certain that coins
were not struck, nor the Khutbsh read in the
name of the Shah.

At this time the Ruler of Herat was Sayid
Mubammad, the son of Yir Muhammad, the

A. D. 1854.

Commissioner of Pe-
shiwar’s No. 1113, No-
vember 6, 1854.

Kabul news letter,
September 19, 1854.

Letter from Abdul
Ghyss Khéan, above
quoted, &c.

Commissioner of Pes
shiwar's No. 1197,
dated 28th November
1854.



4A. D. 1854

Letter from Abdul
Ghyés Khan.

Letter from Syad Hi-
sdm-ud-din, October
9, 1854.

Letter from. Abdal

Ghyds Khén,
zﬁml news letter,
September 17, 1854.
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Alakkozal Wazir, who had usurped the throne
on the death of his master Shah Kdmrén. Sayid
Muhammad was an imbecile profligate. The
Kandahdr Sardars had encroached on his
territory, and taken from him the province of
Farah., In his difficulties he had frequently
applied to the Amir for assistance. A letter,
dated Herat, 22nd August 1854, addressed by
the Ruler to the Amir, must have reached Kabul
about the same time as the Persian envoy.
Sayid Muhammad again entreated the Amir
to aid him in resisting the eneroachments of
Kandahar, and threatened to ally himself with
the British if his application were unsuccessful.

The Amir replied : “ I seek only friendship—
 you may ally yourself with whom you please ;
“ but I recommend you to have nothing to do
“ with the British. Their friendship can do you
“no good. Be patient till I can proceed with
¢ a force to Kandahar, and then I will restore
“ your provinces.”

The Amir then ordered his advanced tents to
be pitched on the road to Kandahér, but his
preparations for the expedition seem to have stop-
ped there. It is very doubtful whether he had
ever any real intention to do more than make a
show of his displeasure. However that may be,
the news of an insurrection in Balkh, at that
time governed by Mubammad Afzal Khin, the
eldest son of the Amir, and the rumours of the
assembling of a British Army on the Indian
frontier, were quite sufficient to repress, for a time,
the Amir’s desire for new conquests. Muhammad
Afzal Khan wrote in great alarm. He reported
that 20,000 troops of Bukhard had came down
to the Oxus, of whom 8,000 had crossed over to
Shibarghin. The Amir of Bukhari had stirred
up the tribes into insurrection ; Muhammad
Zaman Khan, a son of Dost Muhammad Khan,
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had been forced to fall back on Balkh. Wali
Muhammad Khan, another son, was beseiged
in Akchah ; and the Governor believed that he
himself would soon be in the same position unless
the Amir should come to his assistance. The
Russians and Persians were at this time most
active in their advances in Central Asia. The
former established a cantonment at Akmasjid,
and the Persian Governor of Mashhad marched
with a large force to coe-operate with the Rus-
sians against Khiva. The position of the Amir
at Kabul was a difficult one. Major Edwardes
believed “ that from the simultaneous agsaults
¢ on Dost Mahammad Khan, with war and policy,
¢ by the Amir of Bukhara and the Persian envoy
¢ —together with these rumours of Russian
¢« advance in the north, that unusual efforts of
¢ Russian policy were being made and felt in
“ Central Asia.”

The question of an alliance with the British
had for some time formed a subject of discussion
in the councils of Kabul. A corr dence had
arisen between the Commissioner of Peshawur
and a son of the Amir, Muhammad Azim Khén,
the Governor of Kurram. The latter professed
himself most anxious for a British alliance, and
Major Edwardes told him he had little doubt
that a letter addressed from the Amir to the
Governor General would receive a favourable
answer. Mubammad Azim Khan read Major
Edwardes’ letter, to his father, and appears to
have exerted himself to the utmost to bring
about the alliance. The Amir, from the first,
seems to have been inclined to make friendship
with the British. His position was a critical
one. Menaced by the threats of Persia on the
one hand, and alarmed by the rumours of the
advance of the Russians and of the disturbances
in Balkh, on the other, he fel5 alone in

A. D. 1854.

Commissioner of Pe«
shiwar's No. 1113,
dated 6th November
1854.

Commissioner of Pe-
shdwar's No. B, dated
15th September 1854,
No. C, dated 21st Sep-
tember 1854, No. H,
dated 23rd October
1854.



A. D. 1864.

Letter of Abdul Ghy-
&s Khan, &e., &c.

Commissioner of Pe-
shfiwar’s No.1197, 28th
November 1854.

Commissioner of Pe-
shéwar's No. H, dated
23rd October 1854.

Secretary to Chief
Commissioner Punjab,
to Secre to Govern-
ment of India, No. 916,
28th October 1854.

Secretary to Govern-
ment of India, No. 106,
November 14, 1854,
with enclosures.
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the midst of his e¢memies. To coneciliate
England or Persia was imperative. Sultan
Mubammad Khan, the elder brother of the
Amir, and many of his counsellors, were most
anxious that the offers of Persia should be
accepted. Butv Dost Muhammad had no reliance
on the promises of Persia, and he knew by experi-
ence the stability and good faith of the Indian
Government. He therefore abandoned the ex-
pedition to Kandahar, and appointed his confiden-
tial Secretary, Mirza Muhammad Husain, to be
the bearer of letters of good will to Peshawar.

One the 23rd October Major Edwardes re-
ported the arrival of the envoy to the Chief
Commissioner. The Mirza brought four letters
from Kabul: ¢“one from Muhammad Azim
¢ Khin, and one from the Amir himself to
“ Major Edwardes ; a third from the Amir to
¢ the Chief Commissioner, and a fourth from
“ the Amir to the Governor General.”

#Sir John Lawrence received the Kabul envoy
at Abbottaffed. The latter, * with much ear-
“ nestness expressed his assurance that the sole
“ object of the Amir, in his overture, was the
¢ establishment of friendly relations with the
¢ British Government.”

No doubt was felt as to the sincerity of
this overture. The Amir’s letter to the Governor
General was forwarded to Calcutta, and a most
friendly answer was returned. The Governor
General expressed his pleasure at receiving the
Amir’s letter ; informed him of the successes of
the English and French in the Crimea, and pro-
posed that the friendship of the English and the
Afghins “ should be recorded in a valid treaty.”
The Amir was invi “ to depute a Sardir of
¢ high rank and wisdom to Peshiwar to meet a
¢ British officer, who would be appointed to
“ act as the Agent of the Governor General, and
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* who would have full power and liberty to A, D. 1854.
“ enter into and execute a treaty.” N

Khan Bahadur Faujdair Khin was sppointed
to accompany the envoy, Mirzd Muhammad
Husain Khan, on hisreturn to Kabyl, and to
deliver the Governor General’s letter to the
Amir. He was not ¢ authorized to enter into
“ any negotiations, but was instructed to hold
“ friendly language, and to assure the Amir that
“ he might fully rely on the friendship of
¢ the British Government, more especially if
“ the Amir should give proof ot his own sin-
¢ cerity by signing the trea.ty which he had
“ been invited to negotiate.”

The Kabul envoy, acecompanied by Faujddr _ Commissioner of Pe-
Khan, left Peshawur on the 4th December. 22?:;1' ngn};iioiggz'
Major Edwardes believed “ that he was sensibly
“ impressed with the kindness that had been
“ shown to his master by the Government of
“ India, and with a feeling that its sincerity
“ and forbearance are more to be relied on than
% the flattering promises of other courts.”

Before his departure the Mirzd informed _Commissioner of Pe-
Major Edwardes, that the Amir had  aban. S3iwareNo. 197, daf-
““ doned all intention of an expedition against 1854.
¢ the Sardars of Kandahar, a mediation having
“ been made between them by other ,members
*“ of the family ; also that Muhammad Afzal
“ Khan was advancing to the siege of Shib-

“ arghdn, and that Jittle opposition was ex-
“ pected, for though the place was strong, the
¢ Turcomans were not courageous.”

This anticipation was justified by the result ;
for, on the 13th December, Mirza Muhammad
Husain delivered to Faujdar Khan the copy of a8  ommissioner of Pe-
letter to the Amir from the Governor of Balkh, shiwar’s No.1287, dat-
reporting  that the insurrection on the borders i“éﬁn"m"" 16th,
“ of Balkh had been closed by the surrender of
“ the walled town of Shibarghan and its depen-
 dencies.”

-



A. D. 18585.

Commissioner of Pe~
shiwar’s No. 85, dated

January 27th, 1856.
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Faunjddr Khan was well received at Kibul,
On the 2nd of January ke was feasted by
Muhammad Sharif Khin, a son of the Amir;
and on the 5th by Sultdin Muhammad Khan.
The latter, who had betrayed Major George
Lawrenee, in 1848-49, into the hands of the
Sikhs, was mach opposed to the British alliance,
The Governor General, in his letter to the Amir,
especially mentioned that the treachery of
Sultin Muhammad Khin would be forgiven.
Faujdar Khan was at first unwilling to accept
the invitation gf the betrayer of Major Lawrence,
but the Amir reminded him that the Governor
General had overlooked the past. The Khin
therefore agreed to go, * and was conducted in
3 kind of sacrificial triumph to the house of
¢ Sultdin Muhammad, who exhausted politeness
 on the occasion. In the course of eonversation
“ he introduced the campaign of 1848-49, and
¢ tried to excuse his share in it. Faujdar Khan,
“ however, gave him an answer, and the Sardar
“ was silent.”

The Amir deputed his favorite son, Sardar
Ghulam Haidar Khan, the heir apparent, to act
as his plenipotentiary in the negotiations with the
British, The Sardar and Faujdar Khin left
Kabul on the 8th January 1855, and marched
through Jalalabad to Peshawar. Faujdar Khan
forwarded from Jalalabad the copy of a letter
from the Amir of Kébul to the Governor Gene-
ral. Dost Muhammad, after innumerable com-
pliments, wrote thus: “ At your TLordship’s
““ desire I have appointed my son, the beloved,
 the most upright * * ¥ the pupil of the eye
¢ of dignity and majesty, Sardar Gholdm Haidar
« Khan, the heir apparent of this powerful
« Government. * ¥ ¥ ¥ The Sardar will pro-
¢ ceed to Peshawar, and with the British repre-
* gentative endeavour to arrange the alliance of



“ the two powers, and make every effort to
“ conelude a treaty of friendship.”

The Governor General had at first resolved
to entrust to Major Edwardes the duty of
negotiating with the expected envoy from Kébul,
but when it was known that the Amir had
appointed the heir apparent to represent him
at Peshawar, and had specially expressed a wish
that the Chief Commissioner should meet his
son, the Governor General considered that
such an act should be met in an equally friendly
spirit by the Government of India. The
Chief’ Commissioner was accordingly djrected
to proceed to Peshawar, and was invested with
full powers to negotiate with Sardir Ghulam
Haidar Khin.

The following is the draft of the Treaty pro-
posed by the Government of India -—
ARTICLE I.
There shall be perpetnal peace and friendship between
the Heonorable East India Company and His Highness

Dost Mubammad Xhén, the Amir of Xibul, his heirs
and successors.

ARTICLE IT.
The Honorable East India Company engages to respect

and never to interfere with the territories now in possession.
of His Highness the Amir.

ARTICLE IIT.

His Highness Dost Muhammad Khan engages, on s
own part, and on the part of his hewrs and successors, to
respect the territories belonging to the Honorable East
India Company, te be the friends of its friends, and the
enemmes of 1ts enemies.

The Secretary to the Governmemt of India
thus explaimed the provisions of the Treaty :—

¢ By the first article a formal renewal of friendly
¢ relations with the Amir of Kabul is declared,
¢ and amity is, at the same time, estabhshed
“ with his heirs and successors. The second

“ article relieves the Amir from all apprehensions

A. D. 1855.
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 of aggression or interference on our part, while
it contains not a word which could involve
¢ the Government{ of India in an engagement
% to support Dost Muhammad Xhan in any ag-
¢ gressivé movements which, under whatever
¢ pretext, he may desire to undertake against
¢ qgther chiefs or states. And whatever we
¢ promise or exact in the third article is of a
¢ purely defensive character. But while the
¢ Governor General would be glad to obtaina
 treaty in accordance with the foregoing draft,
¢ the Chief Commissioner should make the 1st
¢« artiele the basis of his negotiation, and offer
¢ the additional provisions to the acceptance of
¢ the Amir's envoy as being in conformity
¢ with what His Highness himself is believed
¢ to have contemplated, It is mnot the wish
¢ of his Lordship in Council that these latter
¢ provisions (which are expressed in the 2nd
¢ and 3rd articles of the draft), should be pressed
¢ upon the envoy, or that they should appear
¢ to originate with the Government of India,
¢ but that they should be put forward as a con-
¢ cession to the wishes of the Amir, and as a
¢ gpecific assurance that the apprehensions which
¢ the Afghan nation is believed to entertain of
¥ our desire to obtain again a footing in Kabul,
¢ are wholly groundless.

* That the Afghans are impressed with this
¢ belief was represented during the course of his
« conference with Major Edwardes by Nazir
¢ Kheirullah, who, at the sametime, intimated that
¢ the Amir would regard with much favor the
¢ insertion in the treaty of an article by which
¢ the British Government should engage neither
“ to have a cantonment at Kabul, nor to place
¢ any representat:ve there, The Chief Commis.
¢¢ gioner, in bringing forward the second article of
“ the treaty for discussion, should advert to
¢ these representations of Nézir Kheirullah, and



11

« ghould point out that the article in question
“ does substantially gmarantee to the Amir
“ what he is said to have desited, excepting a
“ promise that the Government of India shall
“ never have a representative at the Court of
“ Kabul, and that it has been proposed for ac-
¢ ceptance, with the express intention of meet-
¢ ing his wishes as they are believed to have
¢ been expressed by the Nézir Kheirullah. The
* envoy may be assured, at the same time, that
¢ the Government of India has no intention of
‘ sending and no wish to send a representative
¢ to the court of Kabul, but it should be pointed
¢ out to him that this Government could not
¢ in prudence bind itself never to depute a re-
‘¢ presentative to the Amir, for if Russia or
* other powers should be représented by envoys
¢ at Kabul, the interests of the British Govern-
“ ment would plainly suffer injury if no envoy
“ were present on its behalf.

¢ If, however, the envoy should not be satis-
“ fied with this assurance, but should press on
“ the part of the Amir for specific stipulations re-
 garding our having no cantonment at Kabul,
“ and no representative there, the Chief Com-
“ missioner may deliver to the envoy, in the
« event of his signing the treaty as proposed in
¢ the draft, a formal note, which shall explain
¢ that, in engaging not to interfere with the
¢ territories of the Amir, the Government of
¢« India intends to repudiate all desire to have a
¢ cantonment in any part of His Highness’
¢ dominions, and that the Government, in like
¢« manner, intends, by that article, to repudiate
¢ all desire to have any representative at Kabul,
¢ unless representatives from other powers should
¢ be admitted there.

« ¥ the envoy from Kabul will not agree to
« any treaty unless these two stipulations shall

A. D. 1885.
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“ be embodied in it, the Chief Commissioner
¢ is authorized to introduce them, in the modi-
“ fied sense degcribed in the preceding part of
¢ this paragraph. In the course of the negoti-
*¢ ations wpon the 8rd article of the proposed
“ treaty, it is possible that the envoy may object
“ to assume, on the part of the Amir, the obliga-
¢ tion to resist our ememies to the utmost unless
¢ some equivalent advantage should be conceded
¢ to His Highness by the provisions of the
¢ treaty. In this event the envoy should be
« reminded that, in obtaining from us a treaty
¢ of frigndship at all, the Amir obtains a full
« pquivalent for all that he is asked to give in
¢ return. The Chief Commissioner should point
# out to the envoy that, at the present time, the
¢ Amir has no security, except in our forbearance,
¢ against the infliction by us of such justretribu-
¢ tion as we might please to exact from him for the
¢ unprovoked hostilities which he directed aganst
 us some years ago. His Highness will do well
¢ o recollect that his army was moved against
¢ us ; that he came at its head ; and that it was
¢« the act of one of his famly which delivered
¢ our officers, their wives and children, as pri-
¢« goners into the bhands of the Sikhs. If His
¢ Highness the Amir shall obtain, by virtue of
¢ the proposed treaty, complete immunity for
# guch acts as these ; if he shall obtain by it
¢ the relief and assurance which he will derive
¢ from possessing the plighted friendship of a
¢¢ great Government whose displeasure he incur.
¢ red ; whose power is irresistible, and whose
¢ frontier touches his own ; the Amir may well
 be content to give in return that assarance of
# common resistance to a common enemy, which
¢ jg all that the British Government now pro-
¢ pose to him. * * * * *

“ It may be anticipated that the Amir’s
* envoy will, in the first instance, manifest much
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*¢ dissatisfaction at the limited scope of the pro-
< posed treaty. He will probably contend for
“ an allianee, offensive and defensive, between the
“ States. * * * Tf the envoy should contend
“ for a treaty offensive and defensive, the Chief
¢ Commissioner may at once intimate that the
< British Government will under mno ecircum-
¢ stanced enter into such a compact with the
“ Amir of Kébul. The sole effect of such
 an instrument would be to involve the Govern-
““ ment of India in the disputes and hostilities
“ of the various States which lie beyond its
“ western frontier, and wholly to defeat thesdesire
¢ which it sincerely entertains to be at peace
“with all of them, and to abstamn from any
¢ interference in their interests and concerns.

“ If, agam, the envoy should represent that,
“ from whatever cause, he considers the term-
* tories of the Amir to be in danger from the
¢ Shéh of Persia, and should require that the
“ treaty should convey to him some guarantee
“ against Persian aggression, the Chief Com-
“ missioner should bear 1n mind the express
 injunctions which the Governor-General in
¢ Council has received, that the Government
¢ of India must not make econditions or use
“ Janguage which would occasion just cause of
* umbrage to Persia, and he should refuse to
¢ give the guarantee that may be sought-—* % * %
¢ at the same time full assurance may be given
¢ that the British Government sincerely desires
“ the continued maintenance of the indepen-
« dence of Afghénistdn, and would not view
* with indifference any attempt by a foreign
 power to subvertit; and the Amir may be
 informed that last year the British Govern-
* ment concluded an engagement with the Shih
% of Persia, which had for its object the main-
 tenance of the territory of Herdt indepen-

A. D 18355.
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“ dent of Persian rule; and at the same time
“ ook occasion fo declare that it will notallow
“ any systematic attempt on the part of Persia
“ to effect a change in the state of possession
“in the countries lying between the Persian
¢ frontier and the Bntish territories in India.”

Guided by these instruotions, the Chief
Commissioner of the Punjab met Sarddr Ghu-
l4m Haidar Khén at Peshdwar. The Sarddr
was accompanied by many influential noblemen
of the Amir’s family ; among others were Sarddr
Muhammad Saddik Khén, and Sarddr Muham-
mad Umar Khén (sons of the late Sardér
Muhammad Azim Khén), Sardir Sher Muham-
mad Khé4n (son of Sarddr Pir Muhammad
Khén), Sard4r Shéh Nawéz Kbén (son of Sardér
Sultin J4n, and of a sister of Sardér Ghuldm
Hadar Khén).

« The treaty was concluded on the 30th
« March 1855. It was guaranteed that we
« ghould respect the Amir’'s possessions in
¢ Afghénisthn, and never interfere in them ;
¢ while the Amir engaged similarly to respect
¢ British territory, and also to be the friend of
¢ onr friends and the ememy of our enemues,
¢ Sard4r Haidar Kbhan having been sumptuously
¢ entertained during his residence at Peshawar,
“ and having received many handsome presents,
¢ returned to Kébul.”

Secrelary to Chief A day or two before the departure of Sardér
Commissioner, Panjab,
to Secretary to Govern-
ment  of India, No.

8#34--378,
Apil 1885,

dated 3rd

\

Ghuldm Haidar Khén, the Chief Commissioner
disoussed with him ¢ varwous points connected
 with the border tribes on the upper part of
¢ the British frontier. The Chief Commissioner
“ recapitulated to the Sardir the misdeeds of
“ the Lalpura and Pindiali Momunds (who are
¢ feudatories of Xébul), and explained to him
' ¥ the necessity of curbing thesepeople. Ifit was
¢ said that it was not in the power of the Amir
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* to effect this, then the British Government
* might have occasion to consider on the expe-
“ diency of doing so on its own behalf—* **
¢ for the conduct of these people was intolerable,
# and they shduld not be sufféred to foray our
< lands, and murder our subjects with impunity.”

Sarddr Ghul4m Haidar Khén promised that
% the Amir would make a point of coming toan
¢ understanding with the leaders of the Mo-
* munds, and that, doubtless, satisfactory
 arrangements would be made, whereby the safety
¢ of the border would be secured ; but, if such
 arrangements should not be accomplishgd, the
“ British Government could do as it pleased,
¢ and punish the offending tribe.”

In the afternoon of the day on which the
foregoing discussion took place, the Chief
Commissioner received a letter from Sardér
Ghuldm Hadar Khén, “regarding the small
valley of Daur, which adjoing Bunnoo.” The
Sard4r asked permission for his brother, Muham-
mad Azim Khén, to take possession of the
valley, which was an integral part of the
kingdom of Afghénistdn. At this time, however,
Daur was independent ; but on several occasions
the inhabitants had requested the Brntish
authorities to extend their control to thewr valley.
The Chief Commussioner believed that the
British Government had no desire to lay
claim to Daur, although it might have the
right to do so under the lst Article of the tri-
partite treaty of June 1838, between the British
Government, Mahar4jah Ranjit Singh, and
Shah Shuji-ul-Mulk, by which the Shéh relin-
quished all claims to the possession of Daur in
favor of the Sikhs. The question was referred
to the Supreme Government, who, in reply,
stated that it had “no wish for the valley of
# Daur, no claim upon it, and mo reason to

v}
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A. D 18565, “ object to the assertion of his sovereignty over
“ it by our ally, the Amir of K§bul” Muham-
mad Azim Khén, the Governor of Kurram,
subsequently entered and took possession
of the valley.

Sarddr Ghulém Haidar Khén ca.rne& with him

(‘ommissioner of DPe- OR€ copy of the treaty of Peshdwar to Kébul.
shiwar's No 82C, dated Another copy was sent to Calcutta, to be rati-
bth Auust 1855. fied by the Governor-General. It was intended

by the British Government that the Amir and

* the Governor-General should each sign the
copy received by them, respectively. The
documents were then to be exchanged. The
copy already signed by the Governor-Genera} 1
would then be ratified in a like manner by
the Amir, and vice versd. The treaties, after
these formalities would be deposited among
the ¢ archives of Hindustin” and Afghdnis-
tdn.

The Amir of Kdbul misconstrued the meaning
of this proposal altogether. He imagined that
the original treaty would be altered by the
Governor-General. He despatched a long letter
to the Commissioner of Peshdwar, detailing
his doubts and fears. The ratified treaty was
called an ¢ amended bond.” The Amir could
not understand why the signatures and seals
of his scn and the Chief Commissioner were not
sufficient. Had they not both been invested with
full powers by their respective Governments ?
‘What more could be required ?

Major Edwardes explained to the Amir that
the ratification of the treaties by the heads of
the two Governments, was merely a formality,
in accordance with the custom of the kings of
the west. Dost Muhammad was assured  that
“ the English will never repudiate a letter of
¢ what they have once set their hand and seal

“ to, be the regult good or bad, or loss or kain.”
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As was to be expected, the Amir replied to
Major Edwardes that he had never for a
moment suspected the English of having altered
the text of the treaty. *“*All that he meant
“ was to ascertain in what way the Most Noble
“ the Governor-General’s assent and confirma-
“ tion had been inserted.” He was now perfectly
satisfied, and would at once depute a messenger to
Peshdwar, to bring the ratified treaty to Kébul.

In this letter the Amir taok occasion to
intercede for Rahmddd Khén, Chief of the
Michni Momunds, whose evil deeds on the border
had led to the confiscation of his jaghirs in
Peshdwar. “ Should the British take pity on
“him and release his property, I have every
“ hope that he will never rebel again; so far
“ from rebelling, he will feel grateful for
¢ forgiveness, and such treatment will also be
¢ beneficial to the British interests.”

In forwarding this letter to the Chief Com-
missioner, Major Edwardes shewed that Rahmdad
Khén had done nothing to deserve forgiveness ;
on the contrary, his people had but recently
committed raids upon British territory, and
so his case had been made worse since his
jaghirs were confiscated. Major Edwardes also
pointed out that Rahmd4d Khén was only one
of a class, and that if the Government were
to buy him off many other chiefs who were in
exactly similar positions would have to be
bought off also. The races on the Peshdwar
frontier have not honor enough to behave
gratefully for “black mail,” and giving money
to one only sets up others to extort it.

The Governor-General approved of the view
taken by the Commissioner of Peshdwar,
with regard to Rahmdéd Khaén, and re-
quested that the Amir might be informed
that it was impossible to extend clemency to

ey
(-] 1
Edwardes, 28th August

Secretary to Govern~
ment of India, No. 738,
dated 3rd November*
1855.
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A. D. 1855, Rahmd4d Khan, whose punishment had been
necessary and jast, and who had done nothing
to entitle him to forgiveness. In regard to the
general question of money payments to tribes
on the frontier, the Governor-General was cer-
tain that it is “not good policy for the British
“ Government to comsent to pay black mail,
¢ however the payment may have been sanc-
¢ tioned by past custom, whatever form it may
“ assume, or under whatever name it may be
“ disguised.”

Commissioner of Pe-  Some months after the return of Sardar
g%zgsﬂgugofs’;;t' Ghuldmy Haidar Khén, the Commissioner of
Peshiwar was requested by the Chief Commis~
Secretary to Govern- sjoner to give his opinion as to the best mode
3‘:;3 ggfﬁaleg (}:365%(?’ of maintaining a closer communication with
the Court of Kabul. Major Edwardes, in reply,
pointed out the great difficulty of obtaining
reliable information regarding the internal
politics of Afghénistdn. He believed ¢ that
¢ we should hear quickly enough of any really
“ jmportant event in Central Asia; but, with
“regard to news from Kébul itself, here all
“ openness and frankness ceases; it is the
 fanciad interest of the court to wrap itself
“in obscurity ; and it will never volunteer any
 information as to its own politics and parties.”
The arguments for and against the appoint-
ment of a British representative at the Court
of the Amir, were then discussed by Major
Edwardes. There seemed to be no doubt of the
advantage that would result to the Government
of India from the presence of a Vakil at Kébul;
still, the Commissioner of Peshdwar, the Chief
Commissioner of the Panjib, and the Governor
mfnm"agditg,%‘:e’éno: General, were unanimous in thinking that the
dated 2nd October 1855, measure was premature, and that any such
proposal ¢ would ereate alarm and suspicion as
1o our ulterior objects.”
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CHAPTER II.

In the beginning of August 1855, Sardir
Kohandil Khén died at Kandahdr. His son,
Muhammad Saddik Xhén, who was absent at the
time of his father’s death, returned soon after.
He gave great offence to his uncle, Sardér
Rahmdil Xhén, by seizing the property and
valuables of the late chief. Rahmdil Khén wrote
to the Amir for advice and assistance, and even
went so far as to invite Dost Mubammad to
come over to Kandahér, and assert his suzerainty.
The Amir at first intended to depute his brother
Sultén Muhammad Khén to proceed to Xanda-
hér, and settle the dispute of his brothers and
their sons; but the news of the wusurpation
of the throne of Herft by Shahzddd Mu-
hammad Yusaf, a Saddozai, caused a change
of plan. The Shéhz4d4 was said to have been
supported in his rebellion by Persia. The Amir
feared the result on the Kandahdr Sardérs of
the nearer approach of Persian power and
influence ; he therefore resolved to march in per-
son to Kandahr.

The report of the rebellion at Herdt reached
Kibul towards the end of September. Sarddr
Ghulém Haidar Khén at once communicated it
to Major Edwardes. The authecticity of the
news was at first questioned. In a few days,
however, all doubts were removed. Shéhzid4
Muhammad Yusaf, the grandson of Shéhzdd4
Firozuddin, a Saddozai, had, with the connivance
of Sardér Isd Khén, deposed Sardér Sayid Mu-
hammad Khén, and made himself master of Her4t.

On the 30th September the Amir received a
letter from Sarddr Rehmdil Khén, giving the
following account of the rebellion :—

“ Two months ago a force of 80,000 Persiang
“ advanced from Seistan. Shéhz4d4 Muhammad

A. D. 1858
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* Yusaf, grandson of Bh&hefidd Firozuddin,
“ with a som of Shi&hz4d4 Kémrén, and 1,500
“ men, was pushed forward m advance, and
“ carried on secret negotiations with the Herdt
¢ chiefs, and when they had fallen into his plans
“he made a rapid march upon Herdt with his
¢ 1,600 men, and the chiefs inside seized their
*own ruler, the son of Y&r Muhsmmad Khén,
“ who, being an imbecile, had been persuaded by
“the Persian envoy in Herdt to despise
¢ Mubammad Yusaf, and to make no attempt
* to drive him back. So he was handed over
“by kis own chiefs to the Sh4&hz#d4, and on
“ the 8rd day after, the whole Persian force
* arrived. Twelve of the chief men of Sayid
¢ Muhammad Khén were put to death, and he
“ himseif was sent off to the town of Kohshén
¢ (Koochan). Some say he also has been killed ;
¢ others that his eyes have been put out ; at all
¢ events Sh&hz4d4 Muhammad Yusaf has been
“ get up as King of Herét, and 15,000 Persian
% troops appointed to support him.”

The first detailed account of the fall of
Herft was received by Sard4r Ghul4m Haidar
Khén from Kil4t-i-Ghilzai. The story ran thus :
« Sartip Isa Khén, one of the chief officers of
¢« Sard4r Sayid Muhammad Khén, has for the
¢ last twelve months been in constant communi-
¢ cation with the Shihz4d4, and seeing at last
“ an opening, snmmoned the Shéhz4d4, who
¢ despatched his brother with 200 horse, and
¢« these, concealed in the broken ground of the
« Farh4d mountain, were joined there by the
¢« Sartip Isa Khdn, with 100 horse. Leaving
¢ their hiding place at night, they reached the
“ gate of the city about 2 o’clock in the morning.
“ The warder called out ¢who are you?
¢ ¢ Sartip Isa Khén ’ was the reply. The gate
 was opened, and the party entered, and were
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« joined in the * Char Chouk * by 2,000 * Sir-
< baz” who had agreed to that rendezvous.

- “ To cut the story short, they possessed them-
* selves of every gate of the city before morning,
“ and at dawn sent one man ahead to Sardar
“ Sayid Muhammad Khén in the citadel, tosay :
“ ¢ the city is taken’; Sayid Muhammad Khin
< fired at him with a pistol, and then went out
< himself. Throughout the citadel was heard
“ the ery, ¢ Sartip Isa Khén is coming.” Sayid
¢« Muhammad Khén said, ¢ let him enter, he is my
¢ own officer.’” The Sartip, with 800 horse and
“ the Sirb&z, entered the Ark,* a fighteensued,
« lives were lost on both sides, and the Ark was
“ taken. Sarddr Sayid Muhammad Khén, with
“ his sword in one hand and the Korén in the
¢ other, took as one may say his coffin on his
< ghoulder and threw himself at the feet of the
“ Shahz4d4.

“ The Shahz4d4 is now in the city, he has one
“ or two Persians of rank with him, and 2 or
¢ 300 horse.

¢« The whole of the Dourdnis and Ghilzais, and
<« Farsiwdns, were of one accord, itis said, in
¢ this business.”

The question that most concerned the British
and Ké4bul Governments, with regard to the
disturbances at Herdt, was, what part did the
Persians play in it ? The first of the two accounts
that have been quoted above would seem to
show that the Persians had openly marched on
Her4t, deposed its ruler, and placed the Shdhz4d4
Muhammad Yusaf on the throne. The second
account does little more than show that the
Shéhz4d4 acted under Persian influence, or at least
with Persian approval ; and this seems to have
been the truth. On the 9th of November, Major

* The citadel of Herfb is called the “ Ark.”

A. D. 1853,
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Edwardes wrote to the Secretary to the Chief

Commissioner as follows 1w

* The Persian game has been played with more
“ duplicity than appeared from the first accounts.
* No one doubts that the Saddozai adventurer,
% Shéhz4d4 Muhammad Yusaf, has obtained He-
“ rfit by Persian support and in the Persian in-
* torest : but it seems doubtful whethex any
¢ Persian troops accompanied or followed him
“ to Her4t itself. It has been stated in some
“ accounts that a Persian army halted on the
“ border of Seistan. It .has now been said to
¢ have advanced to Ghorian, which is only 30
¢ miles from Herét ; and it seems certain that
¢ the deposed ruler of Hert has been transported
¢ as a prisoner into the Persian territory. While,
¢ therefore, the aggression bears every mark of
“ being Persian, it is not impossible that the Per-
“ sians may be prepared to disavow it. But let
“words go as they may we should be in-
¢ sensible not to feel that Herft at this mo-
“ ment is Persia’s, to do with as she pleases.
“ She may prefer keeping a Saddozai in it for
¢ the present as a sufficient lever on the Amir of
¢ Kébul, and a veil over the real facts should
“ we choose to see them ; or she may occupy,
« Her4t herself if the Sh4hz4d4 proves too weak ;
¢ or, lastly, she may offer it for a consideration to
¢ the Amir of Kébul.”

This view of the case was borne out by sub-
sequent events.

The Shéhz4d4 had doubtless been supported
by Persian influence. This fact may have been
exaggerated by the Kamlbfsh faction and others,
who were anxious to see the Sh4h paramount in
Afghénistén.

It is easy to imagine how the report of a few
Persians having accompanied the Shibzédé may
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have been magnified into the ramour of a Persian
force besieging Herét.

The Kazilb4shes were Persian settlers in Af-
ghénistdn. They belonged to the Shiah sect
of Muhammadans, and were consequently much
hated by the Afghén Stnnis. The dream of the
true Kazilbdsh was a Persian conquest of Af-
ghénistin. They werz always the first to spread
reports of Persian advances on the frontier.
Many false rumours of the taking of Herdt, and
of the designs of the Shih on Kandahir and
Kébul have at times been current in ine Pesh4-
war baziirs, and are believed to owe their origin
to the Kazilbdsh Shiahs. Many Kazilbdshes
have, however, been faithful adherents to the
Afghén cause. The Amir, Dost Muhammad
Khén, himself was the son of a Kazilb4sh woman,
and Mirzd Muhammad Husain, his private
secretary, who was sent as envoy to Peshdwnar
in 1854, belonged to this sect.

‘When the news of the taking of Ilerit by the
Persians reached Calcutta, the Foreign Secretary
wrote to the Chief Commissioner of the Panjab
that, the Governor-General could not pet give cre-
dence lo the statement. The Chief Commissioner
was desired to observe the most rigid caution in his
communications with Kabul on the subject, and
to be careful to say nothing which could commit
the British Government in the slightest degree,
or in the most indirect manner. But whatever
may have been the uncertainty as to the exact
degree of aid given by Persia to the new ruler
of Herdt, in his usurpation of the throne,
it soon became an undoubted fact that the
Shéhz4d4, Muhammad Yusaf, was supported
by Persian influence in his newly acquired
sovereignty.

The Amir of Kibul started on his march to
Kandah4r in the beginning of October. On

A. D. 1886.
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the 27th he was within 100 miles of his desti-
nation, and he probably entered Kandahér about
the middle of November. “ It was generally
“ believed that it was not his intention to stop
¢ there, but to make Kandahdr a basis for fresh
“ designs on Herét.”

It must not be supposed, however, that the
rejection by the Amir of the proposals of the
Shéh of Persia, or his subsequent alliance with
the British, or even the change of rulers at Her4t,
had produced an open rupture between the courts
of Teherin and K4bul.

A merchant, by name Jéifar Khén, was em-
ployed by the Amir as a secret messenger to
the Persian Cowt. He was the bearer of some
gifts from the Shéh to Dost Muhammad Khén,
in the end of 1854. Mirza Muhainmad Husain,
when at Peshdwar, made a point of explaining
to the Chief Commissioner the circumstances
connected with Jéfar Kbén’s mission. His
arrival in Afghénistin at the very time that the
preliminaries of the tieaty with the Biitish Go-
vernment were being arranged was somewhat
inopportune. The Amir, anxious as to the con-
struction that would be put on it by the British,
directed his cnvoy to inform the Commissioner
of Peshdwar that a caravan belonging to Jafar
Khén had been plundered by Alaméni robbers
some years before, that the merchant went to
Teherdn to demand restitution of his losses, and
that the Shéh had merely taken the oppo-
tunity of his return to Kébul to entrust him
with the delivery of a few presents to the Amir,

Other accounts, however, said that Jafar Khén
had, in the first instance carried friendly letters
from the Amir to the King of Persia; that he
remained at Teherin three months, and was
treated with marked kindness.

. Major Edwardes believed that, from the anxiety
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of the Amir to prevent misunderstanding, there
could be little doubt that Jéfar Khin went to
Teherén for other than private purposes.

The circumstance was reported to the Supreme
Government, and Major Edwardes was in-
structed “to state in reply 1o any further allu-
* sions which might be made to the interchange
¢ of envoys between K&bul and Persia, that the
¢ British Government will not view such mis-
“ sions with disquietude; that it maintains
¢ friendly relations with the Shah of Persia, and
“ can have no reason to object to the mainte-
“nance of similar relations between the Amir
+¢ and the Shih.”

Dost Muhammad Khén made himself master
of Kandahir without opposition. Omn the 6th
January 1856, the Amir wrote as follows to the
Chief Commissioner of the Punjab:— The

¢ affairs of Kandahir have been settled in the
“ best manner, and the people of the country,

“ from the lowest to the highest, have been
“ rendered happy in comsequence of the relief
“ they have obtained from newly introduced
“ oppression, and of the relinquishment of newly
* established usages, and have enjoyed comfort
¢ and reaped the fruits of my favour.” In the
same letter the Amir replied to enquiries that
had been made by the British authorities regard-
ing affairs at Herdt. He said “It has been
¢ repeatedly enquired whether Shéhzid4d Mu-
“ hammad Yusaf, by his own determination
¢ and stratagem, undertook the movement, and
“ has captured Herat, or whether he has done so
“ at the instigation of the King of Persia? * *
¢¢ Thig is known to the All Wise God, who is
“ cognizant of the secrets of all hearts. But the
¢ (considerations) which can be gathered from
“ the conduct and procedings of both parties
‘¢ are as follows 1=
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“ Firstly. The Shihz4d4 wae for several
“ years in the service of, and in the receipt of
¢ pay {rom, the Government of Persia, and the
¢ whole of his family are still residing at the
“ sacred city of Mashhad.

“ Secondly. After the occurrence of this con-
“ spicuous event, and after slaying the Zahir-
¢ ud-daulah®* of that Government, capturing
¢ his family and plunderng his property, the
¢ Shahz4d4 was not visited with the Imperial
 anger ; but, on the contrary, he has been treated
“ with reyal favor, and honored with a title.

“ Thirdly. In consideration of these services,
« 3 Persan envoy, viz. Abbas Kuli Khén, armved
# lately, and nvested the Shéhz4d4 with a royal
“ robe of honor; and, on the 12th December
« 1855, returned to Teherdn in company with
« Marza Rafi Khén as the Vakil of the Govern-
¢ ment of the Sh4hz4d4 Mubammad Yusaf.

“Fourthly. Intercourse is kept up with,
“and letters are constantly received by, the
¢ Shéhz4d4 from the sacred city of Mashhdd.

“The conduct and acts of the Shahz4dd aie
“ as follow :—

“Firstly. He does mnot aspire to strike
“ coin or cause the khutba to be read in his
¢ own name, and declares that he is only a sub-
¢ ordinate, and has, therefore, no concern with
“ the coin or khutba. He will be guided by what-
“ ever orders he might receive from the Huzoor.

 Secondly. Whatever cash or property falls
“ into his hands, he transmits the same im-
¢ mediately, both openly and clandestinely, to the
* gacred city of Mashhad.

“Thirdly. He despoils the Duranis and

* The tfatle of Zshir-ud-daulah was bestowed upon the
ruler of Her4t by Persia. He is, therefore, spoken of as the
Zahir-ud-daulah of that Government. -ud-daulah
hiterally means an assstant or ally of the State.
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* other persons whom he considers ahens, of
“ all their property, and expels them from Herdt,
“ and harbotfrs in the fort all men belonging
“ to the Kazzilbdsh and Hazara, &c., who are
< inelined to the side of Persia

* Fourthly. By addressing successive and re-
« peated petitions he bLrings himself to the
* remembrance of the king of Persia.

¢ T know not whether on all these considera-
“ tions we are to look upon him as bound up with
< and.westablished at Herat by the orders of or at
*¢ the instigation of the Shah of Persia ox not.”

Of course it is quite clear what inference the
Amir intended the British Government to draw
from this last sentence, viz., that the Shahz4d4
Muhammad Yusaf was avowedly a vassal of
Persia. Opposed to this view is the account of
the rebellion at Heidt wiitten by Mr. Murray,
the British representative at Teherdn. On the
28th September 1855, he wrote as follows to
Her Majesty’s Foreign Minister in London. :—

“ Intelligence has lately reached me to the
¢ effect that Syid Muhammad Khén, ruler of
“ Herdt, the son of the late Yar Muhammad
¢ Khén, having undertaken an expedition against
¢ the Hazirah tribe to compel them to pay
< arrears of tribute, the people of Herat dis-
¢« gusted at his incapacity, and his habits of
¢ drunkenness and cruelty, sent during his ab-
¢ sence a secret communication to Muhammad
“ Yusaf Mirza, (a nephew of Shah Kamran)
““ who has resided for many years in Mashhad,
 and has numerous partisans in Herdt offering
“ to make over the Government to him. Mu-
“ hammad Yusaf Mirza immediately despatched
“ his younger brother, Mubammad Ibrahim
 Mirza, to secure his inferests in Herft, he
“ himself following as soon as he could make
“ his escape. It appears that the Persian an-

A. D. 1855,
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¢ thorities, when they heard of his departure,
“ gent a troop of horsemen %o capture, and bring
“ him back, he being at the time in command
“of a Persian regiment of irregular horse.
« He evaded his pursuers, and reached Herdt in
¢ safety. The latest accounts state that the
¢ late ruler, Sayid Muhammad Khén, had been
“ seized and placed in confinement by the
¢ people, and that Mubammad Yusaf Mirza
¢ had reached Herit, and assumed the reins of
“ Government., It is difficult to form any well
 foundgd opinion as to what his future line of
¢ policy may be, but he is represented as being
*“aman of ability and energy, and not only
¢ popular in Herét, but also among the Herdt
¢ branches of the Hazara tribe, whom his prede-
¢ cessor had been attempting to coerce. I trust
 that the new ruler will not prove subservient
“ to Persia. If we base our conjectures on the
“ motives by which men are usually actuated
“ in this part of the world, he certainly will not
“ be so ; for if they have treated him well at
¢« Mashhad, it will be considered a mark of high
 and independent spirit to show a coolness and
¢ indifference towards his former superiors ;
¢ whilst, on the other hand, he 18 not likely to
< forget or forgive the attempt to recapture him,
“apd to prevent his attaining his present
¢ position.”

This letter, so far from attributing the change
of rulers at Hei4t to Persian influence, distinctly
states that the authorities at Mashhad did what
they conld to prevent the departure of the
ShéhzAd4 from their city. It is possible how-
ever that the Persians did no more than make
a reasonable show of opposition. However that
may be, it is perfectly consistent with proba.
bility, that when the king of Persia saw
Mubammad Yusaf established at Her4t, and
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evidently willing to recognize him as suzerain,
he agreed to maintain him in his new position.
In this manner Herfit would become essentially
a Persian dependency, and the rule of the
Shéhz4dd a convenient stepping stone from the
Government of an Allakkozai chief to the open
assumption of the sovereignty by the Shah
himself.

It may be well to insert here the translation
of an account of affairs at Herdt, sent to
Major Edwardes by Muhammad Alam Khén,
a nephew of the Amir of Kébul. The Igtter was
written at XKandah4r in the beginning of
December 1855. While it confirms in most par-
ticulars the account of the rebellion given by the
British minister at Teherdn ; it differs from the
accounts furnished by the Amir and Ghulam
Haidar Khdn in regard to the part taken by
Persia in the disturbance. Dost Muhammad
Khén made it his policy to exaggerate the
reports of the advance of a Persian army on the
Afghén frontier. Muhammad Alam Khén had
served with Major Edwardes in the Derajat.
His letter was a private one, and was apparently
written without any desire to conceal or exagge-
rate the truth.

« Shihz4d4 Muhammad Yusaf is now ruler
« of Herat. He has gone from Mashhad, and
¢ his family are still there. The son of Yar
“ Muhammad had gone stark mad; and the
« khans and people of Herdt were discontented
« with his rule. A man of great influence in
« Herat, named Mullah Yusaf, of Hazara, had
« received an injuty from the hands of the son
 of Yar Muhammad Khén ; and he formed a
« conspiracy, with Mirzd Rufi, Isi Khdn
« Bardurfini, Mujid Khén, Bardurfini , Abbas
« Khén, Ahmud Khén, Abdulla Khén, é‘ymﬁri,
«and Al Khén, a slave of the son of Yar
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# Muhammad Khén, Having bound themselves
¢ together with solemn oaths, they sent for Shah-
¢ z8d4 Mubammad Yusaf to come and take
“ possession of Herdt. The Shéhz4d4 sent
* his brother Sh4hz4d4 Muhammad Raz4, to see

+ % Mull4d Yusaf. Meanwhile Is& KXhén had been

“ ordered by the son of Yér Muhammad Khén
“ to go to Farrah, and was on his way, when
 hearing pf Sh4hz4d4 Muhammad Raza’s
 approach, he joined him and entered the city,
“ which was at once plunged into an uprour.
““ The son of Yar Muhammad was in the ark.
¢ All the Bardurénis took the Sh{hz&d4’s part,
¢ and seized the Allakkozais wherever they could
‘ be found. Is4 Khdn, the Sirtip, who was in the
“ark with 1,000 soldiers, maintained an ob-
¢ stinate resistance from morming till evening ;
“but at last the fort yielded. The son of
¢ Yar Mubammad Xhén then surrendered,
“ and was sent to Ghoridn. Shihz4dd4 Muhars-
“ mad Yusaf was summoned at once with the
“ good tidings that Herit was taken, and on his
 arrival he recalled the son of Yér Muhammad
“ Khdn from Gherién, and after a few days
¢ killed him in prison at dead of night. In the
“ morning his corpse was thrown into the
¢ ditch of the ark, where it remained four days
“ unburied, at last a faquir buried it by
« stealth. Shdhzadéd Muohammad Yusaf then
¢« proceeded to dispose of the family of the late
« ruler Syid Muhammad Khén and his father
« Y4r Muhammad Khén. He took the daugh-
« ter of Sirdar Amin Muhammad Khén, (brother
« of the Amir of K4bul) for himself, and the
« daughter of Sher Muhammad Kbén (brother
¢ of Yar Muhammad Khén) for his brother
« Shihz4d4 Muhammad Razd. Kédara, son of
« Syid Muhammad Khén with his brother
« were given to Mujid Kbén Bardurdni.
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LI N 2 R I U O
« The Amir has received a letter from Hert
“ to the effect that Shihz4d4 Muhammad Yusaf
“js a harsh man; that he has ruined
« the Alakkozals, and is very close-fisted. To
“ each of the Popalzais who had repaired to him
“in great numbers from Kandahdr he gave a
« Herdt fur postin and pays them one anna
“a day only. The ShAhz4d4 looks upon the
< people of Herdt with suspicion ; and the letter
“ above quoted, which the Amir received from
¢« Herat, came from Abbés Khdn, Mirza Rafi,
¢« Mulld Yusaf of Hazdra and others, and jnvited
« the Amir to come to Farrih, promising that
“ they would help him in the capture of Herét,
“and assuring him that as yet the Persians
“ had taken no part in the affairs of Herdt.”

Before leaving the consideration of Herdt
affairs at and after the rebellion, it would be
well to state what appears from the evidence
that has been detailed at length, to he the
legitimate inference with regard to the share of
Persia in the revolution. Now, if the sources of
information are examined, it is readily seen that
all the accounts of Persian forces and Persian
influence at Herdt came through Afghdn
channels. The Amir Dost Muhammad hardly
concealed the fact that he considered Her4t an
integral part of the kingdem of Afghdnistdn.
There can be no doubt, that at the present ecrisis,
and at many future {imes, the Amir was most
desirous to undertake an expedition against it.
He knew, however, that without help from the
British Government, either in money or in men,
he was himself too weak to make stand against
the Persians, who would certainly oppose any
encroachment of the Amir in the direction of
Hert. The Amir’s policy, therefore, was to
prove to the British Government that the Shéh

E
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had infringed the conditions of the engagements
of 1853, by which non-interference with Herfit
was promised by Persia. ¢ Only let there be a
war between Persia and England (thought the
Amir), and let some pecuniary aid be guaranteed
to me, there will then be little difficalty in the
annexation of Herét.

When due weight has been given to these
arguments, and when the evidence on the
other side, such as the testimony of the British
representative at Teherdn has been considered,
it must be admitted that there is no proof what-
ever that the rebellion at Herdt was brought
about by the Persians, and that although Mu-
hammad Yusaf may have been a Persian-
hearted prince, yet he was mot supported in
any open way by the court of Teherén.

CHAPTER IIL

The position of the Amir at Kandahdr in the
beginning of 1856 was a very critical one. His
letter to the Chief Commissioner, already quoted,
anuounced that he had proclaimed himself
master of Kandahér ; but it made no mention of
his failure either to conciliate or to restrain his
brothers and nephews, whose territory he had
annexed, and whose property he had confiscated.
Their indignation was extreme : one by one they
fled from Kandahér and took up arms against
the Amlir, in various parts of the province. Nor
was Dost Muhammad more popular with the
common people of his newly-acquired territory.
Tnstigated by the Mulldhs, the Kandahéris were
taught to believe that to fight against the
Amir would be to engage in a holy war. The
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Amir had allied himself with the British, and
promised to be the friend of their friends and the
enemy of their enemies, and ° whereas Christ
¢ is their friend, and Muhammad their enemy,
“ the Amir had, therefore, renounced his religion,
“ and all Muhammadans were bound to oppose
“ him.”

The following is an account of affairs at
Kandabér sent by Muhammad Alam Khén to
Major Edwardes, in December 1855 :— Amir
¢ Dost Muhammad Khdn has taken possession
¢« of Kandahdr, and proclaimed himself chief.
« He has given the office of City Kazi to Khén
« Mulld Khén, the Kazi of Kdbul ; confiscated
“ the estates of the Kandahér chiefs ; and ex-
¢ pelled Ghuldm Muhiuddin, and Sultén Ali
« Khén, (the sons of the late Sarddr Kohandil
* Khén) out of the ark. The Amir lives in the
¢ Dew4n Khédn4, and Sultdn Muhammad Khénx
< in the Haram Serai. On the 2nd December,
“ the Amir in Council proposed to fix Sarddr
« Rahmdil Kh4n’s allowance at 8,06,000 Kan-
¢ dahdri rupees, half of which to be drawn from
« K4bul and half from Kandahdr ; and he sent
“ Ghuldm Muhammad Xhén and Khin Mullg
¢ Kbhén to inform Rahmdil Khén of this resolu-
“ tion. Rahmdil Khén would not agree, and
¢ urged that he had been invited to come and
“aid him in quelling the tumult raised by his
* nephews, and not to deprive himself of his
“ dominions. The Amir, therefore, ought to
¢ restore him to the Government of Kandah4r,
“or give him Teeree and the country of the
< Achakzai ; otherwise Rahmdil Khin would
< retire to Mecca. On the 24th December,
“ the Amir sat at Sult4n Muhammad Khdn’s,
“ and sent for Rahmdil Khén, Sardar Sultin
¢ Muhammad Khén, Hafiz Ji, Kh4n Mull4 Khan,
“ and others, to tell Rahmdil Khén that he
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 must resign all his pretensions to the will of
% God, or he would ruin himself, Rahmdil Kh4n
“at last yielded, * * * % * * % *
‘ Sarddr Rahmdil Khén now seems contented
“ with the allowance of Rs. 3,06,000, and means
“ to remove with his family to Kébul. Sardér
“ Ghulam Haidar Khén i¢ ruler of Kandahar.

* oK R K X K X X X X X X ¥
“ A Kandahér news-letter, dated 26th January
“ 1856,is a sequel to the preceding. Sardir
“ Khushdil Khén, son of Mehrdil Khdn, and
“ Sultdin Ali Khén, son of Kohandil Khén,
“ formed a conspiracy with other chiefs ; but, the
“ Amir discovering it, they, together with
« Akram Khén, son of Abdulla Kh4n Achakzai,
¢ fled from Kandah4r. The chiefs and soldiers
“ of Kandahér are displeased at the coming of
« the Amir. The evening before last he sent for
“ Rahmdil Khéin and asked what all this dis-
“ affection was about ? Rahmdil Khdn replied,
“ ¢ they never obeyed their own father, and they
“ ¢ gent for you as a peace-maker, but you have
« ¢« turned them out of doors, and taken their
“¢guns and arms for yourself, and alienated
“ ¢ them from you ; they will never submit to
“ ¢ you, or let peace be in the country.’

¢ Only three members of the reigning family
« of Kandahér now remain here, Sardar Rahm-
« dil Khan, Mir Afzal Khén, and Ghulam
¢ Muhiuddin Khén. All the other chiefs, great
« and small, have fled. On the 19th January,
¢ the Amir told Rahmdil Khdn he could not
« trust him; and required a writing to the
« offect that Rahmdil Khén would either recall
« hissons to Kandahdr or let them take the
« consequence at the hand of the Amir. Rahmdil
« Khin was so enraged at this, that, on the
¢ 93rd January, attended by 60 men, he rode out
¢ hefore the Amirs very face, in open day.
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“ By the time he reached Deh-i-Khwéjah, his
“ party had inecreased to 200 ; no ome knows
“ which way he has gone.

¢« Sardér Khushdil Khén and Sultdn Al
¢ Khén, who had fled to Khw#jah, have plundered
“a caravan. The Amir has appointed Sher
“ Ali Kbén and Sard4r Muhammad Azim Khén
“ with 6,000 horse and foot, to go against them.
“ The disturbance of the country is very gene-
“ yal ; and it remains to be seen what will come
“ofit.” * * % ¥ ¥ 64} February 1856.
“ The Amir has closed the gates of Kandabhir
“ to prevent chiefs or horsemen going out. The
¢ Government has become greatly embarrassed.
“ There is a union of all classes against the
“ Amir ¥ ¥ * ¥ Asyetnoone has been
“ appointed from Kandahér to Farrah.”*

There can be no doubt, that although the
Amir met the difficulties of his position with
apparent equanimity, he was, nevertheless,
full of anxiety as to the final result of the
expedition to Kandah4r. From the date of his
resolution to leave Kdébul, he did not conceal
his desire to receive the advice and assistance of
the British Government. With regard to the
contemplated advance on Herét, the Amir un-
hesitatingly asked us to tell him what he ought
to do. In the month of November, 1853,
the Commissioner of Peshidwar, and the Chief
Commissioner of the Panjab, recommended the
Supreme Government “ to give an assurance
¢ of British friendship and sympathy to Dost
¢ Mubammad Kbén , in order to strengthen
¢ His Highness’ hands.”

The Governor General declined to act on the
recommendation. The Foreign Secretary was
directed to point out to the Chief Commissioner

# Farrah was a dependency of XKandahdr, It is situated
between Kandahdr and Herat.
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that * it appeared almost certain, from the des-
“ patch of the British Minister at Teherén,
“ regarding the rebellion of Herdt, that the
“ Persians had nothing to do with the seizure
“ of that city, and that Her Majesty’s Minister,
“ who alone had the charge of the relations of
“ the principality of Herft, saw no risk in the
¢ present aspect of affairs (on the Afghén fron.
“ tier).”

The Chief Commissioner was further in-
formed that, ¢ if the Governor General were to
“ make the proposed communication to Dost
« Muhammad, it would be immediately con-
¢ strued by the Amir asa direct encouragement
¢ to seize Herdt, an encouragement which the
“ Government of India was mnot authorized
“to hold out.”’

The Amir more than once formally requested
the Chief Commissioner to obtain for him the
advice of the Governor General. On the 6th
of January 1836, in a letter already quoted,
the Amir mentioned the preparations he was
making for an advance on Her4t :— My determi-
¢ nation is to endeavour to do all that is in my
 power, yea, within the reach of human exer-
‘¢ tions, to attain the object ; and, inasmuch
 as the compassing of this ohject is essentially
¢ necessary, * * ¥ the requestis now reiter-
¢ ated, that you will obtain the advice of the
« Most Noble the Governor General of India,
“ and communicate to me whatever may be
« resolved on, after due consideration of the
¢ interests of hoth Governments.”

This letter was forwarded to the Supreme
Government, but failed to elicit any opinion or
advice with regard to Herat. The Chief Com-
missioner was Jdirected to inform the Amir, that
¢ he had no authority to correspond with His
¢« Highness on subjects of national importance,
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% and that, if the Amir desired to know the
¢ gentiments of the Government of India on
“ such questions, it would be necessary for him
¢ to address a Kharitah to the Governor Gene-
“ral,” Meanwhile, the aspect of affairs at
Herat underwent a material change. In the
end of the year 1855, a misunderstanding arose
between the British minister at Teherdn, and
the Persian Government. It is unnecessary to
detail the circumstances of the dispute; suffice
it to say that Mr. Murray, finding that for-
bearance was useless, and only likely to bring
comtempt on the British nation, struck his flag,
and, in the month of December, left Teherén.

“ Soon after Mr. Murray’s departure from
¢ Teherdn, in defiance of a solemn engagement,
“ Persia sent an army to Her4t. * * ¥ Tt
¢ is not easy to give a correct account of th